I.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in concluding that: 

There is no reason the defendant could not have filed a 
written motion for new trial within 10 days of the verdict or 
at least prior to the date of sentencing. There was no new 
evidence discovered, no surprises, and there is nothing 
contained in the motion that was not known to the 
defendant at the time of the trial. 

Finding of Fact 34; CP 61. 

2. The trial court erred in concluding that Gyau has "a solid understanding 

ofthe English language." Finding of Fact 21; CP 59. 

II. 
ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Did the trial court err in failing to find that Gyau's motion for new trial 

was untimely? 

2. Did the trial court err in concluding that Gyau received a fair trial when 

the trial court did not provide him with an interpreter? 

III. 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Amos Gyau was charged with one count of second degree rape. 

He was 17 on September 21, 2011, when the alleged rape took place. 

Thus, he was initially charged in Snohomish County Juvenile Court. The 

juvenile court declined jurisdiction. Gyau was convicted after a bench 

1 



trial in the Superior Court. That judgment and sentence are on appeal in 

this Court in State v. Gyau, No. 71013-3-1. 

The appeal concerns the trial court's denial ofMr. Gyau's motion 

to for new trial. 

Sentencing was held on October 13, 20l3. Prior to sentencing, 

trial counsel filed a motion for new trial at the request of Gyau. 10/9113 

RP 855. Trial counsel stated, however, that he was not comfortable going 

forward because Gyau' s main complaint was that trial counsel was 

ineffective. Id. at 885-88. The State argued that the motion was 

"untimely." RP 887. The trial judge stated that he was going to proceed 

with sentencing but that he would hear the motion for new trial "at a later 

date." Id. at 888. 

New counsel was eventually appointed and on April 18,2014, and 

she filed a motion for new trial pursuant to CrR 7.5. Gyau alleged that his 

conviction should be reversed because 1) he was not provided with an 

interpreter during the proceedings, 2) he did not knowingly waive his right 

to a jury trial, and 3) trial counsel failed to call a key witness. 2nd Supp. CP 

__ , Motion for New Trial, Sub. 129, filed April 18, 2014. 

Defense counsel presented her own affidavit. She stated that she 

traveled to Airway Heights Correctional Center to meet with Gyau. At 

their in-person meeting "it became immediately clear that there were some 
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significant language and cultural barriers that effected communication 

between counsel and Mr. Gyau." She pointed out that Gyau had only 

arrived in the United States from Ghana in 2008. His first language was 

Twi. She also stated that Gyau spoke Twi at home. She observed that 

although Gyau "speaks English very well conversationally, he likely 

struggled to understand the legal proceedings." 2nd Supp. CP __ , Motion 

for New Trial, Sub. 129, filed April 18, 2014. 

The State's primary argument was that under CrR 7.5(b), Gyau's 

motion was not timely. The State also admitted that no interpreter had 

been provided but argued that the Gyau did not need an interpreter. The 

State also argued that Gyau knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to 

a jury trial and that his trial counsel was not deficient. 

On May 8, 2014, the trial court heard argument on the motion and 

took testimony from Aiko Barkdoll, Gyau's Snohomish County Juvenile 

Court probation officer. 5/8/14 RP 6. Barkdoll testified that she worked 

with Gyau for two years. She stated that she had no trouble 

communicating with Gyau. Id at 8. But she never asked Gyau ifhe 

needed an interpreter and he never told her that he could not understand 

her. Id 8-9. Barkdoll did state that Gyau and his family had a difficult 

time understanding the process of posting bail. Id at 12-13. She said: "It 

also need to be mapped out, kind of a cause and effect." Id at 13. She 
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also stated that she never had any discussion with Gyau that required her 

to convey legal concepts. Id. at 13. 

The trial court ultimately decided that Gyau's motion was 

untimely. CP 62. Nonetheless, the trial court entered findings of fact and 

conclusions oflaw on the issues raised in Gyau's motion. CP 56-63. 

IV. 
ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE 
HELD THAT GYAU'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS 
UNTIMELY 

CrR 7.5 provides: 

(a) Grounds for New Trial. The court on motion of a 
defendant may grant a new trial for anyone of the 
following causes when it affirmatively appears that a 
substantial right of the defendant was materially affected 

(5) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or 
prosecution, or any order of court, or abuse of discretion, 
by which the defendant was prevented from having a fair 
trial; 

When the motion is based on matters outside the record, the 
facts shall be shown by affidavit. 

(b) Time for Motion; Contents of Motion. A motion for 
new trial must be served and filed within 10 days after the 
verdict or decision. The court on application of the 
defendant or on its own motion may in its discretion extend 
the time. 

The motion for a new trial shall identify the specific 
reasons in fact and law as to each ground on which the 
motion is based. 
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A trial court's decision on a motion for new trial is reviewed for an 

abuse of discretion. State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117,866 P.2d 631 

(1994). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly 

unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. 

State ex. ReI. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12,26,482 P.2d 775 (1971). 

Here, the trial judge abused his discretion when he refused to 

enlarge the time for filing the CrR 7.5 motion. The motion was based, in 

large part, on Gyau's claim that his lawyer did not provide him with 

effective assistance of counsel. Thus, trial counsel correctly told the trial 

judge at the initial sentencing that he could not file a motion and argue his 

own incompetence. 

Moreover, the record does not establish that anyone ever told Gyau 

that he was entitled to have an interpreter present during trial. Thus, it was 

unreasonable for the court to conclude that a 17 year-old, who had been in 

the United States for about two years would have the wherewithal to 

realize that he had a right to an interpreter and request one. It was also 

unreasonable to assume that Gyau knew that he had only 10 days to file 

his motion for new trial. 

Conversely, there was simply no prejudice to the State to enlarge 

the time. The State's argument appears to be that the only time such a 

motion should be granted is when the motion for new trial is based upon 
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newly discovered evidence. But the rule permits enlargement of time for 

any claim under CrR 7.5(a). And, by the time a hearing was held, the 

State had fully briefed the issues and arrange to call two witnesses. And 

the trial judge proceeded to hear from one of the witnesses. 

Thus, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to 

enlarge the time. 

B. GY AU WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL 
WHEN THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROVIDE HIM 
WITH AN INTERPRETER FOR TRIAL 

Again, the trial court primarily ruled that Gyau's motion was 

untimely. However, paradoxically, the trial court heard evidence on this 

claim and denied Gyau's motion on its merits. But his findings on this 

issue were also an abuse of discretion. 

In this State, the right of a defendant in a criminal case to have an 

interpreter is based upon the Sixth Amendment constitutional right to 

confront witnesses and "the right inherent in a fair trial to be present at 

one's own trial." State v. Woo Won Choi, 55 Wn. App. 895,901, 781 P.2d 

505 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1002, 788 P.2d 1077 (1990). It is 

also the declared policy of this state under RCW 2.43.010: 

to secure the rights, constitutional or otherwise, of persons 
who, because of a non-English speaking cultural 
background, are unable to readily understand or 
communicate in the English language, and who 
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consequently cannot be fully protected in legal proceedings 
unless qualified interpreters are available to assist them. 

The federal cases hold that the right to an interpreter affects a 

defendant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation and the right inherent 

in a fair trial to be present at one's own trial. See United States ex reI. 

Negron v. State o/New York, 434 F.2d 386, 389 (2nd Cir. 1970). The right 

rests fundamentally on the notion that "no defendant should face the 

Kafkaesque specter of an incomprehensible ritual which may tem1inate in 

punishment." United States v. Carrion, 488 F.2d 12,14 (1st Cir. 1973), 

cert. denied, 416 U.S. 907,94 S.Ct. 1613,40 L.Ed.2d 112 (1974). The 

federal courts have held that whenever put on notice that there may be 

some significant language difficulty, the trial court should exercise its 

discretion to determine whether an interpreter is needed. Carrion, 488 

F.2d at 14-15; accord State v. Korich, 130 Wash. 243, 246, 226 P. 1016 

(1924), appeal dismissed, 271 U.S. 690, 46 S.Ct. 472, 70 L.Ed. 1153 

(1926); State v. Trevino, 10 Wn. App. 89,94-95,516 P.2d 779 (1973), 

review denied, 83 Wn.2d 1009 (1974) (both state cases pertaining to 

interpreters to assist witnesses). The court "should make unmistakably 

clear" to a defendant that he has a right to a court-appointed interpreter at 

trial if the court determines that one is needed. Carrion, 488 F.2d at 15; 

Negron, 434 F.2d at 390-91. 
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The trial court erred in failing inquire whether an indigent juvenile 

spoke sufficient English to comprehend the nature of our adversarial 

processes when he was in peril of spending the next 10 years in prison. 

The prosecutor, defense counsel and the judge (in both juvenile and 

superior court) all knew that Gyau was not a native English speaker, that 

he was young and that he had not been in the United States long. l Under 

these circumstances he was entitled to an interpreter and the trial judge 

abused his discretion when he failed to grant Gyau an interpreter on that 

basis. 

v. 
CONCLUSION 

This Court should find that Gyau's motion was timely. This Court 

should also grant Gyau a new trial because the trial court failed to provide 

him with an interpreter. 

rJ