I. ISSUES 

(1) On the date of sentencing, 49 days after trial, defense 

counsel told the court that he had filed a motion for new trial. The 

motion was not actually filed until 240 days after trial. All of the 

information in the motion was available at the time of trial. Did the 

trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to extend the 10-day time 

limit for filing a motion for new trial? 

(2) The defendant immigrated to the United States four years 

before trial. At trial, he testified in English, without ever expressing 

any lack of understanding. At the hearing on the motion for new 

trial, a witness testified that she had no problem communicating 

with the defendant in English. If the issue can be raised, did the trial 

court abuse its discretion in holding that the absence of an 

interpreter was not an irregularity that prevented the defendant from 

having a fair trial? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The substantive facts of this case are set out in the State's 

brief in the appeal of the judgment and sentence, cause no. 71013-

3-1. The following statement of facts deals only with the motion for 

new trial. 

1 



On August 21, 2013, the court orally announced its decision 

that the defendant (appellant), Amos Gyau, was guilty of second 

degree rape. 1 CP 23. At trial, the defendant was represented by 

retained counsel. Sentencing was set for October 9. On that day, 

defense counsel told the court that "the defense has filed a motion 

for a new trial." 6 Trial RP 885-86. The record, however, does not 

include any such motion. 

Counsel went on to explain the basis for the motion: 

I spoke with Mr. Gyau, I think it was two weeks ago, 
and he had asked that that be done. He had written 
out a list of things he felt had been reasons for him 
being denied a fair trial, or reasons that constituted to 
him being denied a fair trial. Not all, but most of them, 
relate to ineffective assistance. For that reason, when 
I filed the motion, I asked that another attorney be 
appointed to talk to Mr. Gyau and go over everything 
and handle that part of the case. 

6 Trial RP 886. No further explanation of the grounds was given. 

"Two weeks ago" was approximately September 25, which was 

already 35 days after the conclusion of the bench trial. 

The prosecutor argued that the motion was not timely. She 

asked the court to proceed with sentencing. 6 Trial RP 887-88. The 

court ruled that it would proceed with sentencing but hear the 
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motion for new trial at a later date. 6 Trial RP 889. No one objected 

to this procedure. 1 

New counsel was subsequently appointed to represent the 

defendant. A motion for new trial was finally filed on April 18, 2014. 

3 CP 64-83. That date is 240 days after the conclusion of the bench 

trial. The motion raised three grounds: (1) the court should have 

appointed an interpreter; (2) the defendant did not knowingly waive 

his right to a jury trial; and (3) defense counsel should have called 

two additional witnesses at trial. 3 CP 64-83. (Only the first of these 

grounds is being raised on appeal.) 

In response, the State argued that the motion was untimely. 

1 CP 52-55. The defense replied that because of the allegation of 

ineffective assistance, the court had discretion to extend the time 

for filing the motion so that new counsel could be appointed and 

review the case. 1 CP 2-3. 

1 In a later memorandum, the prosecutor described the 
proceedings on the sentencing date. The memorandum says: "The 
State did waive objection to timeliness of the motion under CrR 
7.5(e), which requires that the motion be disposed of prior to 
judgment and sentence." 1 CP 23. Despite this statement, the 
record of the sentencing proceeding does not include any express 
waiver on this point. 

3 



The court held a hearing on the motion. The defendant 

presented no additional evidence. 5/8 RP 4. The State introduced 

testimony from a probation counselor about the defendant's 

familiarity with English. 5/8 RP 8-12. 

The court denied the motion both as untimely and on the 

merits. With regard to timeliness, the court found that the motion 

contained nothing that was not known to the defendant at the time 

of trial. On the merits, the court found that (1) the defendant did not 

need an interpreter, (2) the defendant's waiver of jury trial was 

knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, and (3) the failure to call 

additional witnesses did not establish ineffective assistance. 2 CP 

56-63. A copy of the court's findings and conclusions is attached to 

this brief. 

Ill. ARGUMENT 

A. SINCE ALL OF THE INFORMATION IN THE MOTION FOR 
NEW TRIAL WAS KNOWN TO THE DEFENSE AT THE TIME OF 
TRIAL, THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION 
IN REFUSING TO GRANT A 230-DAY EXTENSION OF THE 
TIME FOR FILING THE MOTION. 

7.5(b): 

The time for filing a motion for new trial is governed by CrR 

A motion for new trial must be served and filed within 
10 days after the verdict or decision. The court on 
application of the defendant or on its own motion may 
in its discretion extend the time. 
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7.5(e): 

This time limit is particularly important because of CrR 

The motion [for new trial] shall be disposed of before 
judgment and sentence or order deferring sentence. 

An untimely motion for new trial can thus be a highly 

effective way of delaying sentencing. In this case, for example, the 

defense first mentioned a motion for new trial on the scheduled 

sentencing date, October 9, 2013. The motion was not disposed of 

until May 8, 2014. Had the court complied with CrR 7.5(e), the 

untimely motion would have resulted in a seven-month delay of 

sentencing. Because of the great potential for delay from untimely 

motions for new trial, the civil rules do not allow any extensions of 

the time for filing such motions. CR 59(b), 6(b). 

Unlike the civil rules, the criminal rules do allow an extension 

of time by the court "in its discretion." The standard of review is 

therefore "abuse of discretion." 

A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is 
manifestly unreasonable, or based on untenable 
grounds or untenable reasons. 

A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is 
outside the range of acceptable choices, given the 
facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on 
untenable grounds if the factual findings are 
unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable 
reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the 
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facts do not meet the requirements of the correct 
standard. 

In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 

(1997). 

Here, the court's reasons for denying an extension are 

summarized in the following finding: 

There is no reason the defendant could not have filed 
a written motion for new trial within 10 days of the 
verdict or at least prior to the date of sentencing. 
There was no new evidence discovered, no surprises, 
and there is nothing contained in the motion that was 
not known to the defendant at the time of trial. 

2 CP 60-61, finding no. 34. 

These reasons are supported by the record. The factual 

support for the motion was (1) a declaration from counsel 

concerning conversations with the defendant, (2) another 

declaration setting out statements from the defendant, (3) a 

transcript of a pre-trial hearing, and (4) a witness statement taken 

from police reports. 3 CP 65-66, 72-83. As the court stated, all of 

that information was known to the defendant at the time of trial. 

Moreover, defense counsel said at the time of sentencing that two 

weeks earlier the defendant had given him a list of reasons for a 

new trial. 6 Trial RP 886. Nothing prevented counsel from filing a 
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motion based on those reasons, if any of them had potential 

validity. 

Since the trial court's factual findings are supported by the 

record, the court's decision is not based on untenable grounds. 

There is no showing that the court applied an incorrect legal 

standard, so its decision is not based on untenable reasons. It is 

not manifestly unreasonable to enforce a deadline established by 

court rules, when the party was capable of complying with that 

deadline. Consequently, the trial court's decision was not an abuse 

of discretion. 

On appeal, the defendant argues three reasons why the trial 

court's ruling was an abuse of discretion. None of these arguments 

is supported by any citation to authority. Brief of Appellant at 5-6. 

First, the defendant argues that an extension of time should 

have been granted because the motion was based in part on 

ineffective assistance of counsel. In effect, he asserts an exception 

to the time limit for claims of ineffective assistance. CrR 7 .5(b) 

establishes no such exception, and this court should not create 

one. When defendants are convicted after a trial, they often blame 

their attorney. If that accusation is enough to delay sentencing, 

such delays will become routine. 
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Enforcing the deadline on motions for new trial does not 

foreclose claims of ineffectiveness. Such claims can be brought via 

personal restraint petition under RAP 16.4 or motions to vacate 

judgment under CrR 7.8. Both of these procedures allow new 

evidence to be presented. Neither one delays sentencing. 

Furthermore, the defendant's claims of ineffectiveness are 

irrelevant to the issues on appeal. The defendant has not 

challenged the trial court's rejection of his ineffectiveness claim. 

Even if the defendant was entitled to raise a belated claim of 

ineffective assistance, that would not give him the right to raise 

other untimely claims. 

The defendant's second reason is that he did not personally 

know the possible grounds for a new trial or the deadline for 

seeking one. CrR 7.5 does not, however, require personal notice to 

the defendant. Most defendants are not aware of time limits for 

actions under court rules. Most are likewise unaware of the 

potential grounds for such actions. That is part of the reason why 

they have attorneys to protect their rights. When there is no 

requirement that a person be provided notice of a deadline, lack of 

such notice does not excuse non-compliance. See In re Well, 133 
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Wn.2d 433, 443-44, 946 P.2d 750 (1997) (applying time limit for 

collateral attacks under RCW 10.73.090). 

Third and finally, the defendant claims that an extension of 

time would not have prejudiced the State. Even if this were true, it 

is not dispositive. Enforcement of a deadline does not require a 

showing of prejudice to the opposing party. As this court said in 

another context, "the prejudice of granting [extension] motions 

would be to ... litigants generally, who are entitled to an end to their 

day in court." Reichelt v. Raymark Industries, Inc., 52 Wn. App. 

763, 766 n. 2, 764 P.2d 553 (1988) (discussing extensions of time 

to file notices of appeal). 

In any event, the delay in this case did result in prejudice to 

the State. Counsel was appointed to argue the untimely motion, at 

public expense. That motion has also led to a separate appeal, 

independent from the appeal of the judgment and sentence. All of 

this would have been prevented if, on the original sentencing date, 

the court had determined that there was no proper basis for 

extending the time to file a motion for new trial. 

In short, the court set out valid reasons, supported by the 

record, for denying an extension of time to file a motion for new 

trial. The defendant has not shown that this denial was an abuse of 
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discretion. Consequently, the asserted grounds for a new trial 

should not be considered. 

B. ALTERNATIVELY. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY 
EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR 
NEW TRIAL. 

1. Under CrR 7.5(a)(5), A New Trial Should Be Granted Only If 
The Court Failed To File A Prescribed Procedure And That 
Failure Prevented The Defendant From Having A Fair Trial. 

If the motion for new trial is considered timely, the trial 

court's denial of that motion should be upheld. The defendant 

claims that he was entitled to a new trial under CrR 7.5(a)(5): 

The court on motion of a defendant may grant a new 
trial for any one of the following causes when it 
affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the 
defendant was materially affected: 

(5) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or 
prosecution, or any order of court, or abuse of 
discretion, by which the defendant was prevented 
from having a fair trial. .. 

Under this rule, the determination whether to grant a new 

trial comprises two steps. The court should first determine whether 

there was an irregularity. If there was, the court should determine 

whether the irregularity was sufficiently serious to prevent the 

defendant from having a fair trial. See State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 

Wn.2d 808, 818 ,.m 18-19, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). "We review a trial 
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court's decision to deny a new trial for an abuse of discretion based 

on the oft repeated observation that the trial judge, having seen and 

heard the proceedings, is in a better position to evaluate and 

adjudge than can we from a cold, printed record." kl at 819 ~ 20. 

There do not appear to be any cases defining an 

"irregularity" in the context of CrR 7.5. There are, however, cases 

defining that term as a ground for vacating civil judgments: 

An irregularity is defined to be the want of adherence 
to some prescribed rule or mode of proceeding; and it 
consists either in omitting to do something that is 
necessary for the due and orderly conducting of a suit 
or doing it in an unseasonable time or improper 
manner. 

In re Ellern, 23 Wn.2d 219, 222, 160 P.2d 639 (1945). 

Under this definition, it would appear that if appointment of 

an interpreter was required, failure to do so would constitute an 

"irregularity." Consequently, this court should ask two questions: (1) 

Under the circumstances of this case, was the trial court required to 

appoint an interpreter absent any request? (2) If so, did lack of an 

interpreter prevent the defendant from having a fair trial? 

2. The Record Supports The Trial Court's Finding That The 
Defendant Has A Solid Understanding Of English. 

As discussed above, an abuse of discretion can occur if the 

trial court's findings are unsupported by the record. Littlefield, 133 
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Wn.2d at 47. The defendant has assigned error to the underlined 

portion of finding no. 21: 

This court had an opportunity to listen to the 
defendant testify and notes that he has a solid 
understanding of the English language and appeared 
able to communicate clearly and to understand the 
questions asked of him. The defendant does have an 
accent but this does not appear to present any 
communication problems. 

3 CP 59-60. 

The appellant's brief does not contain any argument relating 

to this finding. Absent any argument as to why the finding is 

erroneous, the assignment of error is considered abandoned. State 

v. Motherwell, 114 Wn.2d 353, 358 n. 3, 788 P.2d 1066 (1990). The 

court's finding should therefore be considered a verity. "[A]n 

unchallenged finding of fact will be accepted as a verity upon 

appeal." State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). 

If this court believes that there has been an adequate 

challenge to the finding, it should still be upheld. A challenged 

finding is viewed as a verity if it is supported by substantial 

evidence. "Substantial evidence exists where there is a sufficient 

quantity of evidence in the record to persuade a fair-minded, 

rational person of the truth of the finding." Hill, 123 Wn.2d at 644. 

Here, the finding is supported by the following evidence: 
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1. The defendant testified at trial without an interpreter. On 

both direct and cross-examination, he was asked questions in 

English. He gave cogent answers to those questions, also in 

English. At no point did he express any lack of understanding. 4 

Trial RP 586-638; 5 Trial RP 646-764. 

2. At the hearing on the motion for new trial, a probation 

counsel testified that she had conversations with the defendant on 

several different occasions between 2009 and 2011. She did not 

use an interpreter in any of these conversations. In all of them, she 

had no problem communicating with him. 5/8 RP 7-12. 

3. Two police officers testified that they had no difficulty 

communicating with the defendant in English. 2 Trial RP 202, 272. 

The defendant told one of these officers that he was "very 

comfortable in English." 2 Trial RP 272. 

This evidence is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational 

person that the defendant has "a solid understanding of the English 

language." The trial court's finding is therefore supported by 

substantial evidence. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by 

relying on unsupported factual findings. 
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3. Since The Defendant Did Not Manifest Any Significant 
Language Difficulty, The Trial Court Was Not Required To 
Appoint An Interpreter. 

Once the relevant facts are established, this court can 

determine whether the absence of an interpreter constituted an 

"irregularity." The standard for appointing an interpreter is explained 

in State v. Woo Won Choi, 55 Wn. App. 895, 781 P.2d 505 (1989), 

review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1002 (1990): 

The federal courts have held that whenever put on 
notice that there may be some significant language 
difficulty, the trial court should exercise its discretion 
to determine whether an interpreter is needed. The 
court should make unmistakably clear to a defendant 
that he has a right to a court-appointed interpreter at 
trial if the court determines that one is needed. 

Thus, the requirement that the court advise the 
defendant directly about the waiver of a right to an 
interpreter does not come into play until the court has 
determined that an interpreter is necessary. If the 
defendant's language skills are adequate enough to 
understand the trial proceedings and to present his 
defense, he has no right to an interpreter and there is 
no issue relating to waiver. 

kl at 901-02 (court's emphasis, citations omitted) 

Under this standard, the existence of language problems is 

not, of itself, sufficient to require appointment of an interpreter. 

Rather, the court must exercise its discretion in determining 

whether "the defendant's language skills are adequate enough to 

understand the trial proceedings and to present his defense." In 
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Woo Won Choi, for example, the defendant was a Korean 

immigrant whose English was "not perfect." kl at 903. Defense 

counsel, however, advised the court that he was convinced that the 

defendant would understand questions put to him. Even though the 

trial court never questioned the defendant directly, this court held 

that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in determining 

that an interpreter was not necessary. kl at 901-02. 

Federal cases agree with this analysis: 

Because the determination is likely to hinge upon 
various factors, including the complexity of the issues 
and testimony presented during trial and the language 
ability of the defendant's counsel, considerations of 
judicial economy would dictate that the trial court, 
coming into direct contact with the defendant, be 
granted wide discretion in determining whether an 
interpreter is necessary. It would be a fruitless and 
frustrating exercise for the appellate court to have to 
infer language difficulty from every faltering, 
repetitious bit of testimony in the record. 

United States v. Carrion, 488 F.2d 12, 14-15 (1st Cir. 1973), cert. 

denied, 416 U.S. 807 (1974) (citations omitted). The defendant's 

lack of objection is also a proper factor to consider. "To allow a 

defendant to remain silent throughout the trial and then assert a 

claim of inadequate translation would be an open invitation to 

abuse." Gonzalez v. United States, 33 F.3d 1047 (9th Cir. 1994). In 
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the present case, for example, the question of an interpreter was 

not raised until 2 l'2 years after the proceedings began. 

The record of the trial indicates no language difficulties.2 

The defendant has not even challenged the finding that he 

"appeared able to communicate clearly and to understand the 

questions asked of him." 3 CP 59-60, finding no. 21. As discussed 

above, the evidence supports the further finding that the defendant 

"has a solid understanding of the English language." Based on 

these facts, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in 

determining that no interpreter was needed. This being so, there 

was no "irregularity" that required a new trial. 

2 The defendant claims that "[the prosecutor, defense 
counsel and the judge (in both juvenile and superior court) all knew 
that Gyau was not a native English speaker." Brief of Appellant at 8. 
This claim is unsupported by any citation to the record. Although all 
of these people knew that the defendant grew up in Ghana, that 
fact tells nothing about what language he spoke. Many people grow 
up speaking a language different that that of the country in which 
they reside. Furthermore, the record does not indicate what 
languages are spoken in Ghana. The website of the Government of 
Ghana lists several major languages, but the country's official 
language is English. http://www.ghana.gov.gh/index.php/about
ghana/ghana-at-a-glance (visited 2/14/15). 
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4. Since The Defendant Was Able To Communicate His 
Defense Clearly, The Absence Of An Interpreter Did Not 
Prevent Him From Having A Fair Trial. 

Even if there was an "irregularity," that would not be 

sufficient to require a new trial. Under CrR 7.5(a)(5), the defendant 

would still have to show that the irregularity "prevented [him] from 

having a fair trial." He cannot make that showing. 

On this point as well, Woo Won Choi is instructive. As an 

alternative basis for its decision, this court assumed that the trial 

court committed constitutional error in failing to make direct 

inquiries of the defendant about the need for an interpreter. This 

court held that any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt: 

A review of the record demonstrates that although 
[the defendant's] English was not perfect, he was 
capable of making himself understood and seemed 
readily to comprehend questions put to him. Most 
importantly, he was able to clearly express his 
defense that he believed the victim was reaching for a 
gun, and that he shot wildly without intent to kill. 

Woo Won Choi, 55 Wn. App. at 903. 

The same is true in the present case. As stated in the trial 

court's unchallenged finding, the defendant "appeared able to 

communicate clearly and to understand the questions asked of 

him." 3 CP 59-60, finding no. 21. In his testimony, he clearly 
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expressed his defense that he did not rape the victim, but had 

consensual intercourse with her at a different location. 4 Trial RP 

586-638. In Woo Won Choi, similar facts established harmless error 

beyond a reasonable doubt. In the present case, they equally 

demonstrate that the absence of an interpreter did not prevent the 

defendant from having a fair trial. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The order denying the motion for new trial should be 

affirmed.